IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA

)

)

)

)

)

THOMAS KNICKMEYER,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF NEVADA ex rel. THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, No. 71372 Electronically Filed Feb 14 2017 10:22 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

KIRK T. KENNEDY, ESQ. Nevada Bar No: 5032 815 S. Casino Center Blvd. Las Vegas, NV 89101 (702) 385-5534 Attorney for Appellant D. RANDALL GILMER Deputy Attorney General Office of the Attorney General 555 E. Washington Ave., Ste. 3900 Las Vegas, NV 89101 (702) 486-3427 Attorney for Respondent

RULE 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

1. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT:

Pursuant to Nevada Constitution, Article 6, section 4, the Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction over the within appeal in that it arises from a civil action before the District Court.

The district court entered a final order denying an amended petition to set aside an arbitration decision, which is subject to direct appellate review under NRAP 3 and 4.

2. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW:

a. Whether the district court erred in denying Knickmeyer's amended petition to set aside an arbitration decision based on a de novo review.

b. Whether the arbitration decision violated Knickmeyer's Due Process Clause rights.

c. Whether the underlying arbitration decision was premised upon a manifest disregard of the law.

3. Routing Statement: This case should be assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b) as it does not fit the criteria set forth in NRAP 17(a) for appeals to be presumptively assigned to the Supreme Court.

1

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Thomas Knickmeyer was a judicial bailiff for the Respondent Eighth Judicial District Court (EJDC) from 1995 to February, 2012, for the now retired Honorable Judge Donald Mosley. From March, 2012 to October, 2013, Knickmeyer was thereafter employed as an administrative marshal for the EJDC.

Knickmeyer was terminated in November, 2013, following Step 1 and Step 2 hearings with the EJDC. Appellant's Appendix (App.), Vol. 4, 411-412, Order Denying Amended Petition, 8/23/16. Thereafter, Knickmeyer challenged that termination through an arbitration process on September 11, 2014. Id. On November 14, 2014, the Arbitrator issued his decision upholding Knickmeyer's termination. App., Vol. 1, 58, Arbitration Decision, Exhibit 6, Petition to Set Aside.

Knickmeyer then filed a Petition to Set Aside the Arbitration Decision on December 16, 2014. App., Vol. 1, 1. Petition to Set Aside Arbitration Decision. The EJDC filed a response to the Petition along with a motion to dismiss the matter on February 6, 2015. App., Vol. 1, 76, Motion to Dismiss, Or in the Alternative, Response to Petition to Set Aside Arbitration Decision. Knickmeyer filed his opposition to the motion to dismiss on March 2, 2015. App., Vol. 1, 100, Opposition to Motion to Dismiss.

2

On November 9, 2015, Senior Judge Nancy Becker issued an order denying the EJDC motion to dismiss and directing Knickmeyer to file an amended petition which clarified the jurisdictional basis for judicial review in the matter. App., Vol. 2, 148, Order, 11/16/15.

Knickmeyer then filed his Amended Petition to Set Aside Arbitration Decision, Or In the Alternative Petition for Judicial Review on December 15, 2015. App., Vol. 2, 150, Amended Petition to Set Aside Arbitration Decision, Or In the Alternative Petition for Judicial Review. The EJDC filed its response and motion to dismiss the amended petition on January 15, 2016. App., Vol. 2, 231, Motion to Dismiss Amended Petition. Knickmeyer filed his opposition to the motion to dismiss on February 3, 2016. App., Vol. 2, 254, Petitioner's Opposition to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Amended Petition. The EJDC filed its reply in support of the motion to dismiss the amended petition on February 11, 2016. App., Vol. 3, 266, Reply In Support of Motion to Dismiss, 2/11/16.

On February 12, 2016, the Honorable Judge Becker heard the EJDC motion to dismiss and denied the matter. App., Vol. 3, 321, Order, 2/25/16. The district court ordered the EJDC to file its opposition to the Amended Petition and for Knickmeyer to file his reply. App., Vol. 3, 323, Opposition to Amended Petition; Vol. 3, 350, Petitioner's Reply to Respondent's Opposition to the Amended Petition.

A final hearing on the matter occurred on May 20, 2016, wherein the district court entered its oral decision denying Knickmeyer's Amended Petition. App.,Vol. 4, 360, Transcript 5/20/16.

A final order reflecting that decision was filed on August 23, 2016, and served by notice of entry of order on August 25, 2016. App., Vol. 4, 407, Order Denying Amended Petition to Set Aside Arbitration Decision, 8/23/16.

Knickmeyer timely filed his notice of appeal on September 21, 2016. App., Vol. 4, 423, Notice of Appeal.

It is also notable that after the original Petition to Set Aside Arbitration Decision was filed on December 15, 2014, Knickmeyer subsequently filed a motion to disqualify the Eighth Judicial District Court from hearing the matter. App., Vol. 1, 96, Motion to Disqualify, EJDC, 2/26/15. Without a hearing, on March 17, 2015, the Honorable Chief Judge of the EJDC, David Barker, issued a minute order finding sufficient grounds to reassign the case to the Senior Judge Department, which is administered by the Nevada Supreme Court. App., Vol. 1, 102, Minute Order re: Reassignment, 3/17/15.

After the reassignment, Appellant was advised that the Honorable Chief Justice Michael Cherry had selected the Honorable Senior Judge Nancy Becker to hear and decide this matter. Knickmeyer filed a renewed motion to disqualify the EJDC and to challenge Judge Becker's appointment. App., Vol. 1, 103, Renewed Motion to Disqualify the EJDC, 7/2/15. The Respondent opposed the motion and, ultimately, Judge Becker issued an order denying the renewed motion to disqualify. App., Vol. 1, 108, Order Denying Petitioner's Renewed Motion to Disqualify the EJDC.

For the reasons stated in the Order, Judge Becker found that there was no legal or factual basis to disqualify herself from hearing this matter in the district court. Id.

5. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS:

At all relevant times herein, Knickmeyer was a peace officer as defined under Nevada law in NRS 289 et seq. App., Vol.2, 151, Amended Petition. He was formerly employed with the Respondent as a judicial bailiff from 1995 to February, 2012, wherein he worked as the judicial bailiff for the Honorable Retired Judge Donald Mosley. Id. Thereafter, in March, 2012, he was employed with the Respondent as an administrative marshal until October, 2013. Id.

In 2013, Knickmeyer found himself the subject of an investigation related to certain conduct occurring on January 7 and 8, 2013, at the EJDC. App., Vol. 1, 13, Petition Set Aside, Exhibit 1-Notification of Internal Investigation and

Interview Report, 5/20/13. The investigative report prepared by the EJDC documented the allegations as follows:

1. Knickmeyer said "fuck this place" while on duty.

2. Knickmeyer told co-worker, Marshal Dave Ellis, that then security director Bob Bennett "was going to be fired."

3. Knickmeyer referred to his supervising Lt. Steve Moody as a "motherfucker" and told Marshal Ellis that he was going to "throw Moody under the bus." Further, Petitioner said that Lt. Moody had falsified his application for employment as a marshal with the Respondent.

4. Knickmeyer allegedly showed Ellis a copy of a California lawsuit pleading involving Lt. Moody, which was on Knickmeyer's cell phone.

Knickmeyer allegedly said he was going to show the lawsuit involving Lt.
 Moody to others, according to David Ellis.

6. Knickmeyer, while working the security gate scanners on January 8, 2013, unnecessary scanned and re-scanned the purse of attorney Amanda Litt and then allegedly called her a bitch to Marshal Ellis after she walked away from the gate.

Knickmeyer was given a written reprimand by the EJDC and placed on administrative leave with pay on the same date of May 20, 2013. App., Vol. 1, 17-18, Petition to Set Aside, Exhibit 2-Relief of Duty.

6

In October, 2013, Respondent EJDC served Knickmeyer a notice that it was seeking his termination from employment premised upon the allegations documented in the May 20, 2013, written reprimand. App., Vol. 1, 20, Petition to Set Aside, Exhibit 3- Notice re: Termination, 10/23/2013.

With the aid of union counsel, Knickmeyer challenged his termination at a Step 1 hearing allowed by the Respondent which occurred in November, 2013. The Step 1 decision upheld the recommendation for termination of Knickmeyer's employment. App., Vol. 1, 24, Petition to Set Aside, Exhibit 4- Step 1 Decision.

Knickmeyer then requested a Step 2 hearing which occurred on February 5, 2014. The Step 2 decision also upheld his termination and the findings from the Step 1 decision. App., Vol. 1, 36,Petition to Set Aside, Exhibit 5- Step 2 Decision, 2/20/14.

Thereafter, Knickmeyer requested an arbitration to challenge the Step decisions upholding his termination. On September 11, 2014, an arbitration was held before Mr. Harry Maclean, an independent arbitrator selected by the parties from the American Arbitration Association. The Arbitration was conducted pursuant to the procedures set forth in Article 13 of the applicable Collective Bargaining Agreement between the Clark County Deputy Marshal's Association and the District Court. App., Vol. 1, 60, Petition to Set Aside, Exh. 7, Article 13Grievance and Disciplinary Procedures, Collective Barganing Agreement excerpt.

On November 24, 2014, the arbitrator issued his decision which upheld the termination of Knickmeyer. App., Vol. 1, 45, Petition to Set Aside, Exhibit 6-Arbitration Decision. Arbitrator Maclean found that the EJDC had established the noted allegations by a preponderance of the evidence. App., Vol. 1, 53, Arbitration Decision Exhibit 6. The Arbitrator also found the allegations regarding the re-scanning of Amanda Litt's purse sufficiently egregious to warrant termination. Id., 57-58.

A. Application of Article 13:

Based on NRS 289.120, Knickmeyer initially sought judicial review of the arbitration decision. Pursuant to Article 13 of the applicable collective bargaining agreement (CBA), the requirements and protections of N.R.S. 289 et seq. apply to the court marshalls, to wit: "1. The Courts recognize and agree that all deputy marshals will be afforded their rights as provided for in NRS Chapter 289." App., Vol. 1, 60, Exhibit 7-Article 13 Grievance and Disciplinary Procedures.

Regarding the utilization of arbitration, Article 13 also provides as follows: "Step 3-Arbitration

The arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding on all parties to this
 Agreement as long as the arbitrator does not exceed his/her authority as set forth

below and as long as the arbitrator performs his/her functions in accordance with the case law regarding labor arbitration, the provisions of the U.S. Uniform Arbitration Act, and where applicable, Nevada Revised Statutes-(NRS)." App., Vol. 1, 64, Exhibit 7, Article 13.

The limitations on the authority provided to an arbitrator by Article 13 include the following:

a. the arbitrator shall not have the authority to modify, amend, alter, ignore, add to or subtract from any of the provisions of the CBA;

b. the arbitrator is without power to issue an award that is inconsistent with the governing statutes and/or ordinances of the jurisdiction;

c. an arbitrator's decision and award shall be based solely on his/her interpretation of the application of the express terms of the CBA. App., Vol. 1, 64-65, Exhibit 7-CBA, Article 13.

B. The Arbitration Decision:

The evidence presented at the Arbitration indicated that Knickmeyer was terminated off the conversations he had with fellow co-worker David Ellis on the mornings of January 7-8, 2013. App., Vol. 1, 46-51, Arbitration Decision, Exh. 6. No other witnesses or evidence was presented at the hearing which indicated that any other person, employee or customer of the courthouse was privy to the alleged conversation between Knickmeyer and Ellis at the security gate area on January 7-8, 2013.

The alleged content of the conversations, as testified to by Ellis, included Knickmeyer making off-color comments about his supervisor, Lt. Moody; Knickmeyer expressing his opinion regarding his supervision by Moody and Knickmeyer showing a screenshot from his cell phone of a pleading from litigation in the California federal court involving Lt. Moody as a defendant. Id. Again, there was no independent evidence from any third party indicating that they heard this conversation or that they saw the subject screenshot on Knickmeyer's cell phone of the federal court case paper involving Moody. Further, there was no evidence presented that Knickmeyer did anything else with the California case information involving Lt. Moody or that he disseminated the document to any other parties. Id.

Marshal Ellis' testimony revealed only that Knickmeyer voiced off hand remarks and complaints about the work environment. Blowing off steam and complaining about management is an accepted part of nearly every job in every working environment. Even Ellis admitted that he witnessed such conduct and statements on numerous occasions with his prior law enforcement work over the last 22 years. App., Vol. 1, 70, Petition to Set Aside, Exh. 8, Ellis Arbitration Transcript.

Ellis also testified that over the course of the time he worked with Knickmeyer at the gate area, throughout 2012, he shared numerous conversations about events in his own life, as well as those events involving Knickmeyer. App., Vol. 1, 69-70, Ellis, Trans. It was commonplace for the two marshals to exchange words and to relate events occurring in their own lives to each other, while standing at the gate area. Ellis agreed that when Knickmeyer said something to the effect of "fuck this place" to him on January 7, that he was blowing off steam or just upset to some degree. Id., 70. The alleged statements by Knickmeyer to Ellis on the next day, January 8, are also of the same ilk.

The EJDC presented absolutely no evidence at the Arbitration that Knickmeyer's comments adversely impacted the work environment in any negative fashion or that his alleged comments caused any disruption to the work performance of Marshal Ellis, or any other district court employee. Marshal Ellis did not stop his work because of these statements, nor did he immediately report them to his supervisor.

Regarding the incident on January 8, 2013, wherein attorney Amanda Litt had her handbag scanned at least twice through the scanner, Knickmeyer's uncontroverted testimony at the hearing was that he thought he saw something notable when the bag was first scanned. App., Vol. 1, 51, Arb. Decision. He directed Ellis to search the bag and Ellis indicated he found nothing. Id. Knickmeyer agreed that he directed the bag to be scanned at least one more time.

It is the job of the marshals working the security gates to insure the safety of all courthouse personnel and the public by properly clearing each and every visitor to the building, attorneys included. Amanda Litt admitted that every time she enters the courthouse, her purse is scanned. App., Vol. 1, 73, Petition to Set Aside, Exh. 8, Litt Testimony, Trans. She did testify that on January 8, 2013, her purse was scanned several times. App., Vol. 1, 73-74.

Additionally, the area where this occurred was under constant video surveillance. The Respondent EJDC produced no video evidence of this incident at any of the hearings in this case.

Litt admitted that following the incident she did not think much about it afterwards, so clearly it was not an incident that adversely impacted her when it occurred. App. Vol. 1, 73. Only after the Respondent chose to interview Litt about the matter did Litt *then* say she felt harassed. Id. Litt did not file any formal complaint immediately after the incident occurred. Id. Litt was not interviewed by the Respondent's investigator (Lt. Thomas Newsome) until March 25, 2013. *It is undisputed that Litt never filed any complaint or other claim regarding the* incident of January 8, until nearly 3 months later when she was interviewed by Lt. Newsome.

Litt also admitted that she had been through the security gate prior to January 8, 2013, when Knickmeyer was working there and she reported no issues or concerns. App., Vol. 1, 74. Litt also testified that she did not hear Knickmeyer say anything derogatory to her when she was in the scanner/gate area on January 8, 2013. App., Vol. 1, 75.

The Step 1 and 2 decisions both inflated the Litt incident into some dramatic event. Yet, the whole matter was of such little consequence to Ms. Litt, that she never felt the need or urgency to file a complaint with the district court or with the Marshal's office. Rather, she took her bag and got on with her day on January 8. Only after the Respondent deliberately chose to make an issue of it and then interview Litt nearly 3 months later did she now say she felt "harassed." Clearly, she did not feel that way before being pressured and prodded by the Respondent into making a statement about the incident months afterwards.

The Arbitrator's Decision held that some of the allegations against Knickmeyer would normally only subject him to "corrective discipline," not termination. App., Vol. 1, 56-57, Exh. 6-Arbitration Decision.

The Arbitrator held that the evidence of Knickmeyer showing Marshal

Ellis a copy of a lawsuit involving Lt. Steve Moody was a "serious offense" which warranted "severe discipline." App., Vol. 1, 57, Arbitration Decision. Further, the Arbitrator held that the most serious offense was the alleged unnecessary scanning of Amanda Litt's purse at the gate scanner area. Id. The Arbitrator found that "unnecessarily scanning Litt's purse was retaliatory and constituted harassment." Id.

The Arbitrator essentially predicated his finding of just cause to uphold Knickmeyer's termination on the Litt purse scanning incident. The Arbitrator held "[T]his misconduct is sufficiently egregious, in the Arbitrator's view, to warrant termination in and of itself." Id.

<u>C. Application of NRS 289 To This Matter:</u>

In <u>Ruiz v. City of North Las Vegas</u>, 255 P.3d 216 (Nev. 2011), the Nevada Supreme Court recognized that peace officers, as defined in NRS 289 et seq., have a right to seek judicial relief following an arbitration decision, as occurred in this case, pursuant to NRS 289.120, to wit:

"Any peace officer aggrieved by an action of the employer of the peace officer in violation of the Peace Officers Bill of Rights may, after exhausting any applicable internal grievance procedures, grievance procedures negotiated pursuant to collective bargaining and other administrative remedies, apply to the district court for judicial relief." Id., at 222-223.

Under N.R.S. 289.150(4), Knickmeyer qualified as a peace officer, since he was a marshal working for the district court. Pursuant to NRS 289.120, the <u>Ruiz</u> case and Article 13 of the CBA, as noted above, Knickmeyer properly filed his initial petition seeking judicial review to set aside the arbitration decision in the district court. App., Vol. 1, 60, Petition to Set Aside Arbitration Decision, 12/2014

6. ARGUMENT:

Standards of Review:

This Court's review of a district court decision to vacate or confirm an arbitration award is de novo. <u>Thomas v. City of North Las Vegas</u>, 122 Nev. 82, 97 (2006). The scope of a district court review of an arbitration award is limited since the party seeking to attack the validity of an arbitration award has the burden of proving, by clear and convincing evidence, the statutory or common-law ground relied upon for challenging the award. <u>Health Plan of Nevada, Inc. V. Rainbow</u> <u>Medical LLC</u>, 120 Nev. 689, 695 (2004).

Arbitrators are afforded broad discretion in making determinations of issues under an arbitration agreement. <u>City of Reno v. Int'l Union of Operating</u> Engineers Stationary Local 39, 281 P.3d 1162 (Nev., 2009).

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