Case No. 71372

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THOMAS KNICKMEYER

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Mar 16 2017 04:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

STATE OF NEVADA, *ex rel*. EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. A–14–711200–P

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Respectfully submitted by:

ADAM PAUL LAXALT Attorney General
CLARK G. LESLIE (Bar. No. 10124) Chief Deputy Attorney General
D. RANDALL GILMER (Bar No. 14001C) Senior Deputy Attorney General
State Of Nevada
Office of the Attorney General

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

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Three factfinders determined Knickmeyer's actions on January 7 and January 8, 2013 justified termination without progressive discipline. One of these factfinders was an arbitrator. Arbitration proceedings are afforded great deference. Knickmeyer has the burden to establish by clear and convincing evidence that the arbitrator (1) exceeded the authority provided to him under the MOU, (2) manifestly disregarded the law, or that (3) the arbitrator's decision was so arbitrary and capricious, the conclusion reached was completely irrational.

Here, a review of the MOU, other governing documents, and law establish the arbitrator neither exceeded his authority nor manifestly disregarded the law. In addition, the record developed during the arbitration hearing — and presented to the District Court —contains

34

¹⁴¹ Health Plan of Nevada, 120 Nev. at 695 (citing E.D.S. Constr. v. North End Health Center, 412 N.W.2d 783, 785 (Minn. Ct. App. 1987); Saville Intern., Inc. v. Galanti Group, Inc., 107 Ill. App.3d 799, 438 N.E.2d 509, 511 (1982); Korein v. Rabin, 29 A.D.2d 351, 287 N.Y.S.2d 975, 981 (1968)).

substantial evidence to support the arbitrator's decision. The arbitrator's decision was consistent with both the Step 1 and Step 2 Decision termination proceedings.

Knickmeyer cannot establish any error in the arbitration proceedings or decision — let alone an error that would permit this Court to reverse the District Court's decision.

Accordingly, this Court should affirm the District Court's denial of Knickmeyer's Amended Petition, dismiss this appeal, and remand this case to the District Court with instructions to close the case.

VII. ARGUMENT

Knickmeyer contends this Court should reverse the District Court's denial of his Amended Petition, set aside the Arbitration Decision, and remand this case for a new hearing.¹⁴² Knickmeyer's contention is based on the following three main arguments:

- He was deprived of his procedural due process rights required under Chapter 289 of the NRS and the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution;¹⁴³
- The arbitrator exceeded the scope of the authority provided to him under Article 13 of the MOU;¹⁴⁴ and

¹⁴² Appellant's Opening Brief (Opening Brief), p. 36.

¹⁴³ *Id.* at 18–28.

¹⁴⁴ *Id.* at 29–31.

• Failed to make an express determination that the termination was reasonable.¹⁴⁵

Each of these allegations fail.

A. KNICKMEYER'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED

Knickmeyer first argues NRS 289.040, 289.057, 289.060 and 289.080 required the EJDC to provide him with "access to all information and documents [] utilized at" the Step 1 Hearing, Step 2 Hearing, and Arbitration Hearing.¹⁴⁶ He then argues that because each of the hearings relied on his previous suspensions, his due process rights were violated when the EJDC did not provide him with a copy of all documents relating to the 1997 and 2003 disciplinary proceedings.¹⁴⁷

This argument fails for at least three separate and distinct reasons: first, neither Hearing Officer Bulla nor Arbitrator MacLean relied on the 1997 or 2003 disciplines, making the argument moot; second, Knickmeyer waived the issue by failing to properly address it during the arbitration proceeding; and third, the EJDC is not a law enforcement agency, and therefore under the separation of powers doctrine, it cannot be bound by the provisions of Chapter 289.

¹⁴⁵ Opening Brief at 31–35.

¹⁴⁶ *Id* at. 21.

¹⁴⁷ *Id.* at 20–21, 26–28.

1. KNICKMEYER'S DUE PROCESS ARGUMENT IS MOOT

Hearing Officer Bulla did not rely on the 1997 or 2003 suspensions. Rather, the Step 2 Decision concluded Knickmeyer's actions on January 8, 2013 independently warranted termination "without progressive discipline."¹⁴⁸

Arbitrator MacLean went one step further. He explicitly agreed with Knickmeyer "that the 1997 and 2003 suspensions [were] too remote in time to constitute earlier incidents of progressive discipline."¹⁴⁹ Arbitrator MacLean also ruled Knickmeyer's "arguments over the lack of due process in the administration of these suspensions [were] well taken."¹⁵⁰

Despite that agreement, Arbitrator MacLean determined that termination was warranted based solely on Knickmeyer's "retaliatory conduct toward Litt" and therefore the due process argument and potential violation were moot.¹⁵¹

¹⁴⁸ 1 AA 38; 3 AA 340 (18:13–19); see also 3 AA 339 (17:18–18:12).
¹⁴⁹ 1 AA 58; 3 AA 340 (18:21–27).
¹⁵⁰ Id.
¹⁵¹ Id.

37

In addition to specifically noting the due process concerns associated with the 1997 and 2003 suspensions, the arbitrator explicitly concluded Knickmeyer's retaliatory and harassing conduct toward Litt on January 8, 2013 was "sufficiently egregious . . . to warrant termination in and of itself."¹⁵²

As such, any due process concerns relating to the reference of the 1997 and 2003 suspensions are, as the arbitrator and District Court concluded, moot given the termination was appropriate even without taking into account the 1997 and 2003 suspensions — neither of which were relied on by the arbitrator.¹⁵³

2. KNICKMEYER WAIVED THE ARGUMENT BELOW

The District Court noted Knickmeyer never requested access to the 1997 and 2003 disciplinary files during the administrative

 $^{^{152}}$ 1 AA 57.

¹⁵³ 1 AA 57–58; 4 AA 416; see also Rogers v. State, 83 Nev. 376, 379, 432 P.2d 331 (1967), overruled on other grounds, Alford v. State, 111 Nev. 1409, 906 P.2d 714 (1995) (the court's improper ruling permitting admission of evidence was moot when the evidence was never offered and therefore not relied on); Nassiri v. Chiropractic Physicians' Bd., 130 Nev. ____, 327 P.3d 487, 492 (Adv. Op. 27, April 3, 2014) (because the disciplinary proceedings used the appropriate standard of proof, the appellant's equal protection argument was moot); Sasser v. State, 130 Nev. ____, 324 P.3d 1221, 1224 (Adv. Op. 41, May 29, 2014) (the appellant's arguments relating to "alleged inaccuracies in his PSI will affect his ability to receive parole . . . is moot" given "that the remaining information in [the] PSI" was not inaccurate).

proceedings.¹⁵⁴ Rather, Knickmeyer argued — successfully as referenced above — the "disciplinary suspensions were too remote in time to constitute earlier incidents of progressive discipline" and that there was a lack of due process regarding "the administration of [those] suspensions."¹⁵⁵

The record is replete of any suggestion Knickmeyer ever challenged the introduction of — or reliance on — the 1997 and 2003 suspensions based on the fact that he was not provided a copy of the disciplinary records. To the contrary, Knickmeyer specifically agreed to introduce the memorandum "memorializing these suspensions" as a joint exhibit.¹⁵⁶

In Carrigan v. Commission on Ethics of the State of Nevada,¹⁵⁷ this Court reiterated that "[a]rguments not raised before the appropriate administrative tribunal *and* in the district court normally cannot be raised for the first time on appeal."¹⁵⁸ Based on this

¹⁵⁴ 4 AA 416 (7:1–4).

¹⁵⁵ 4 AA 416 (7:5–16) (citing 1 AA 58).

¹⁵⁶ 4 AA 415 (6:20–24); 3 AA 344 (22:7–16).

¹⁵⁷ 129 Nev. ____, 313 P.3d 880 (Adv. Op. 95, Nov. 27, 2013).

¹⁵⁸ 313 P.3d at 887 n. 6 (citing Valley Health Sys., L.L.C. v. Eight Judicial Dist. Court, 127 Nev. 167, 172–173, 252 P.3d 676 (2011);

principle, this Court has held that parties have a duty to raise discovery issues before the discovery commissioner in order to preserve district court review of the issue.¹⁵⁹ In reaching this result, this Court noted that "[a]ll arguments, issues, and evidence should be presented at the first opportunity and not held in reserve to be raised" before a different tribunal.¹⁶⁰

Similarly, here, Knickmeyer had an obligation to raise the issue of access to the disciplinary files at the earliest possible stage. Because Knickmeyer failed to raise this issue during the administrative proceedings, the issue has been waived.¹⁶¹ Thus, this Court should not consider the issue. This is especially true given that, in addition to being waived, the argument is moot for the reasons addressed above.

3. CHAPTER 289 OF THE NRS DOES NOT APPLY

Finally, even assuming the due process issues raised by Knickmeyer are not moot and not waived, Knickmeyer's reliance on Chapter 289 fails on the merits.

Allstate Ins. Co. v. Thorpe, 123 Nev. 565, 571, 170 P.3d 989 (2007) (emphasis added)).

¹⁵⁹ Valley Health, 127 Nev. at 172–173.

¹⁶⁰ *Id.* at 173.

¹⁶¹ 3 AA 337–338 (15:16–16:12).

Knickmeyer argues that NRS 289.040, 289.057, 289.060 and 289.080 required the EJDC to provide him with all documents relating to his previous discipline. The EJDC disagrees for several reasons.

First, each of these NRS provisions contain explicit language establishing that they apply to certain duties of law enforcement agencies — not courts. Specifically, NRS 289.040(4) provides that "[a] peace officer must be given a copy of any comment or document that is placed in an administrative file of the peace officer maintained by the law enforcement agency." Likewise, NRS 289.057(3)(a) requires a law *enforcement agency* to permit a peace officer to "review any investigative failed maintained by the administrative or law enforcement agency relating to the investigation."¹⁶² Similarly, NRS 289.060(1) mandates "a law enforcement agency" to provide "written notice to the peace officer" of an investigation within forty-eight (48) hours of its initiation. By the same token, NRS 289.080 unambiguously refers to a peace officer's rights when he or she is subjected to an investigation being performed by a law enforcement agency.¹⁶³

 $^{^{162}}$ See also NRS 289.057(2) & (3)(b) (both referencing law enforcement agencies).

¹⁶³ See, e.g., NRS 289.080(3), (6)(b), & (7).

Chapter 289 of the NRS does not define "law enforcement agency." However, at least two other provisions of the NRS define a "local law enforcement agency" as the county sheriff's office, a "metropolitan police department" or a "police department of an incorporated city."¹⁶⁴ Obviously, the EJDC does not fit within this definition. It is therefore not a law enforcement agency.¹⁶⁵

Article 6 of the Constitution vests the judicial power of this State in a court system that is comprised of a Supreme Court, an appellate court, district courts, and justices of the peace.¹⁶⁶ As a district court, Article 6 clearly applies to the EJDC.

This Court has defined "judicial power" as "the capability or potential capacity to exercise a judicial function."¹⁶⁷ Similarly, "judicial function is the exercise of judicial authority to hear and determine

¹⁶⁴ See NRS 179D.050; NRS 62A.200.

¹⁶⁵ To the extent Knickmeyer may attempt to rely on any definition of "agency" or "law enforcement agency" that may be contained in the Nevada Administrative Code (NAC) to support his argument, the term "agency" as defined in the NAC applies to subdivisions of the executive branch, not the judicial branch. *See* NAC 239.690; *LVMPD v. Blackjack Bonding, Inc.*, 343 P.3d 608, 613 n. 4 (Nev. 2015).

¹⁶⁶ NEV. CONST., ART. 6, § 1; see also Galloway v. Truesdell, 83 Nev. 13, 19, 422 P.2d 237 (1967).

¹⁶⁷ *Galloway*, 83 Nev. at 20.

questions in controversy that are proper to be examined in a court of justice."¹⁶⁸

Conversely, "executive power" "extends to the carrying out and enforcing the laws enacted by the Legislature."¹⁶⁹ There is no question law enforcement agencies are used to enforce the laws. Thus, law enforcement agencies fall under the executive branch of our tripartite government.¹⁷⁰

The plain reading of Chapter 289 and the Constitution make it clear the duties and obligations of law enforcement agencies referenced in Chapter 289 of the NRS do not apply to the EJDC. As such, Knickmeyer's reliance on various portions of Chapter 289 fails on its face.

In addition, any attempt to expand the plain meaning and language of Chapter 289 to include the EJDC would run afoul of the Separation of Powers Doctrine. The Constitution dictates that each branch of government is independent from the other two. Any requirement that one branch "exercise the powers of the other two"

¹⁶⁸ *Galloway*, 83 Nev. at 20.

 $^{^{169}}$ *Id*.

¹⁷⁰ *Id.* at 19; Nev. Const., Art. 3, § 1.

would be unconstitutional.¹⁷¹ A branch of government cannot decide to voluntarily overlook or "waive constitutionally based structural protections such as the separation of powers doctrine."¹⁷²

This Court held in *Galloway* "that the Legislature can impose *no duties* on the judiciary but such as are of a judicial character."¹⁷³ Requiring the EJDC to comply with obligations mandated of law enforcement would clearly mean the legislature was imposing non– judicial duties on the court system. As simply put in *Galloway*: "non– judicial functions cannot be imposed upon courts and judges unless expressly stated in the Constitution."¹⁷⁴

The general principles delineated in *Galloway* have been specifically applied in a similar context to the instant case in *City of Sparks v. Sparks Municipal Court.*¹⁷⁵ There, this Court noted the court's constitutional and "inherent authority to manage its own affairs [and] the legislative and executive branches are strictly prohibited from

¹⁷¹ *Galloway*, 83 Nev. at 19.

¹⁷² Commission on Ethics v. Hardy, 125 Nev. 285, 288, 299, 212 P.3d 1098 (2009).

 173 Id. at 24 (emphasis added).

¹⁷⁴ Galloway, 83 Nev. at 27 (also noting that this principle applies even when the Constitution is considered a living, flexible thing).

¹⁷⁵ 129 Nev. ____, 302 P.3d 1118 (Adv. Op. 38, May 30, 2013).

infringing on the court's . . . day-to-day functioning or regular management of its internal affairs."¹⁷⁶ This authority includes the power of courts "to exercise control over [its] employees . . . to ensure that . . . the tasks are performed in a satisfactory manner, and *proper sanctions* and rewards are available when necessary."¹⁷⁷

Based on these factors, this Court explicitly held that "the City [was prohibited] from interfering with the Municipal Court's management of its [marshals], *enforcing or entering into collective bargaining agreements on behalf of Municipal Court employees*" or applying certain provisions of the municipal charter to the "Municipal Court and its employees."¹⁷⁸

It is anticipated Knickmeyer will argue the MOU, which was voluntarily entered into by the EJDC, takes this issue outside of the realm of constitutional concern. However, the EJDC is not suggesting that the MOU does not apply.

¹⁷⁶ City of Sparks, 302 P.3d at 1129 (citing Goldberg v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 93 Nev. 614, 616, 572 P.2d 521 (1977)).

¹⁷⁷ Id. at 1129 (citing Harvey v. Second Judicial Dist. Court, 117 Nev. 754, 770, 32 P.3d 1263, 1273 (2001)) (emphasis added).

¹⁷⁸ *Id.* at 1134.

Rather, the EJDC concedes that it "recognize[d] and agree[d] that all deputy marshals will be afforded their rights as provided in NRS Chapter 289."¹⁷⁹ Those rights were provided to Knickmeyer. Thus, as the MOU provided, Knickmeyer was provided a Step 1 Hearing, a Step 2 Hearing, and an Arbitration Hearing.¹⁸⁰ Tellingly, while the MOU references the progressive discipline process, the Clark County Deputy Marshals Association (CCDMA) also explicitly recognized "the need for more severe initial disciplinary action in the event of a major violation of established rules, regulations or policies of the Courts."¹⁸¹

What the MOU does not — and cannot — do is expand the rights further than contemplated under the plain reading of Chapter 289 or in a manner that would violate the Constitution. In other words, nothing in the MOU requires or permits the EJDC to be considered a law enforcement agency.¹⁸²

In sum, the EJDC complied with the MOU by providing Knickmeyer with rights associated with the disciplinary process as

¹⁸¹ 1 AA 61 (7, ¶ 3).

46

¹⁷⁹ 1 AA 60 (6, ¶ 1).

¹⁸⁰ *Id*. at 63–65.

¹⁸² See City of Sparks, 302 P.3d at 1134; Hardy, 125 Nev. at 299–300.

contemplated by Chapter 289. However, the rights provided to Knickmeyer do not include redefining the EJDC as a law enforcement agency as such an interpretation would violate the Constitution.¹⁸³

4. CONSTITUTIONAL DUE PROCESS WAS PROVIDED

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